University of South Carolina

Scholar Commons

Senior Theses Honors College

Fall 2020

The Role of Paraprofessionals in the Mental Health Structure of India

Amy Abraham *University of South Carolina - Columbia*, amyabraham99@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/senior_theses

Part of the Community Health Commons, Health Services Research Commons, International Public Health Commons, Mental Disorders Commons, Other Mental and Social Health Commons, and the Psychiatric and Mental Health Commons

Recommended Citation

Abraham, Amy, "The Role of Paraprofessionals in the Mental Health Structure of India" (2020). *Senior Theses*. 387.

https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/senior_theses/387

This Thesis is brought to you by the Honors College at Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Senior Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact dillarda@mailbox.sc.edu.

The Role of Paraprofessionals in the Mental Health Structure of India.

By

Amy Abraham

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for Graduation with Honors from South Carolina Honors College

December 2020

Approved:

Kimberly Becker, Ph.D. Director of Thesis

Kimberley Becker

Wendy Chu, B.A. Second Reader

Mendy Chu

Steve Lynn, Dean For South Carolina Honors College The Role of Paraprofessionals in the Mental Health Structure of India.

Amy Abraham

Arnold School of Public Health, University of South Carolina

Honors College Senior Thesis

December 2020

Table of Contents

| Acknowledgements | 4 |
|---|----|
| Thesis Summary | 5 |
| Abstract | 6 |
| The Role of Paraprofessionals in the Mental Health Structure of India | 7 |
| Methods | 11 |
| Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria | 11 |
| Search Process | 11 |
| Results | 12 |
| Aim 1: Describe the Settings Paraprofessionals Deliver Treatments in | 12 |
| Aim 2: Describe Mental Disorders Addressed and Treatments Used by Paraprofessionals | 13 |
| Aim 3: Describe the Mental Health Treatment Models Paraprofessionals Operate Within | 14 |
| Aim 4: Describe the Efficacy of Paraprofessionals in Treating Mental Disorders | 15 |
| Discussion | 16 |
| Limitations | 19 |
| Future Directions | 20 |
| Conclusion | 20 |
| References | 21 |

Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank Dr. Becker for all the opportunities she has given me in allowing me to join her research lab. Through her mentorship I have been able to gain unique research experience in the psychology field that I otherwise would not have explored, and for that I am extremely grateful. I have learned many skills as a researcher, a student, and a team member that I will take with me into my future endeavors through working under the leadership of Dr. Becker.

I would also like to thank my second reader Wendy Chu for guiding through my thesis work and serving as a mentor. Wendy has allowed me to develop my skills as a researcher through helpful suggestions and encouragement. She has dedicated hours of her time and energy to helping me through the thesis process, and always goes above and beyond in her commitment to her mentees, something that does not go unnoticed.

Next, I want to thank all the members of the Becker Lab team. Throughout my time in the lab I have grown close with many of you. You are what makes the lab a special, inviting place to work in and have fun while doing so. The passion that each and every one of you has is astounding and something that makes our lab a truly great community.

Finally, I would like to thank all of my family and friends for supporting me throughout my life. The unwavering support and kindness you all have for me has truly helped me get as far as I have and for that I cannot thank you all enough. You have been an instrumental part of my life and will continue to be so for years to come.

Thesis Summary

Mental health coverage in low-middle income countries is sparse, resulting in a treatment gap between those who need care and those who receive it. In India, the gap is significant, culminating in a public health crisis for the country. This paper analyzed the use of mental health paraprofessionals, defined as individuals with no previous professional mental health training, to mitigate this problem in India. A narrative review was conducted to assess paraprofessional interventions by treatment setting context, treatment delivered, treatment model, and client outcomes. The study found that paraprofessional led interventions were suitable for treating mental health disorders in India.

Abstract

The mental health treatment gap in India is part of a growing public health crisis, with over 95% of those in need of services never receiving them. Over 197 million Indians suffer from at least one diagnosable mental health disorder, and this number continues to grow given the treatment gap. The treatment gap is a result of four major factors: lack of government support, stigma, limited treatment facilities, and dearth of professionals able to provide treatment. The current study aimed to analyze several factors of paraprofessional led mental health interventions including setting, treatments delivered, treatment models, and client outcomes. A narrative literature review was conducted synthesizing the current available research on paraprofessional mental health interventions in India. Paraprofessionals were found to be a plausible solution to mitigating the treatment gap for several reasons. They were able to conduct treatment in multiple settings, deliver proven treatments for multiple disorders, reduce stigma surrounding mental health, and add to the workforce. These findings provide support for paraprofessional led interventions and their potential for treating the Indian population.

The Role of Paraprofessionals in the Mental Health Structure of India

Mental illness accounts for nearly 10% of the global burden of disease (Murray & Jordans, 2016). Within the 20-year timespan between 1990 - 2010, the global burden of mental, neurological, and substance use disorders increased by 41% (Patel et al., 2016). For example, major depressive disorder, epilepsy, and alcohol dependence are among the most common disorders that present the greatest burden (Whiteford et al., 2015). For low-to-middle-income countries (LMICs), the impact of mental disorders is much more severe. Defined, LMICs, such as Pakistan, are countries with a gross national income per capita between \$1,036 - \$4,045 (Hofman et al., 2005). This contrasts with high-income countries (HIC), such as the United States, which have a gross national income per capita of \$12,536 or more (Hofman et al., 2005). Evidently, LMICs such as those in Northern Africa and the Middle East have a higher prevalence of major depressive disorder compared to high-income countries (Whiteford et al., 2015).

India is a LMIC that has garnered recent interest because of its large population and emerging mental health crisis. In 2017, India had a population of about 1.34 billion, with 197.3 million people, or 14.7% of the population, suffering from at least one mental disorder (Sagar et al., 2020). Of those afflicted with mental disorders, about 45.7 million had a depressive disorder and 44.9 million had an anxiety disorder (Sagar et al., 2020). India also has a youth population of 434 million, and over 50 million have a diagnosable mental disorder (Hossain & Purohit, 2019). However, these figures likely underestimate the actual prevalence, as many people with impairment from mental health-related causes remain undiagnosed (Hossain & Purohit, 2019).

Despite the growing mental health crisis in India, there is great unmet mental health needs, or a treatment gap. The term treatment gap refers to the lack of mental health coverage or the difference between those who could benefit from mental health services and those who are

actually receiving them. Globally, the treatment gap can be up to or exceed 75% for many common mental disorders, such as depression and anxiety (Murray & Jordans, 2016). In India, these numbers are even more disheartening as up to 95% of Indians who could benefit from services do not receive them. With respect to Indian youth, the treatment gap climbs to over 99%, inferring that less than 1% of youth who are suffering from a mental disorder in India ever receive treatment for the disorder (Hossain & Purohit, 2019). This is concerning, given that unmet mental health needs in childhood have been shown to progress and persist into adulthood (Roy et al., 2019), and have been associated with a range of poor outcomes such as early death and poverty (Luitel et al., 2015).

Although there is a growing prevalence of mental disorders, the treatment gap in India continues to expand due to many systemic barriers to treatment. Firstly, mental health issues in India are rarely acknowledged by the government as a public health issue, as reflected by the lack of a comprehensive mental health care system (Roy et al., 2019). Secondly, the stigma surrounding mental health is pervasive within Indian society. Those with a mental disorder are publicly shamed by inner and outer social networks and are subject to isolation and discrimination which further exacerbate mental health symptoms (Shidhaye & Kermode, 2013). Moreover, in certain Indian cultures, mental disorders are superstitiously believed to be a punishment as a result of sinning (Shidhaye & Kermode, 2013). Thirdly, mental health care is often limited to government-funded primary care centers, especially for the economically disadvantaged (Murray & Jordans, 2016). These primary care centers have been found to show poor detection rates of mental disorders, with only one in three clinically significant cases being identified and thus being served (Patel et al., 2010). The physical distance to these clinics and the waitlist time to receive services further contribute to access barriers of these primary care centers

(Hossain & Purohit, 2019). Finally, there is a significant shortage of trained mental health professionals to address the total mental health needs in India. Currently, there are only 1.93 trained mental health workers for every 100,000 people in India, in comparison to the 71.7 professionals per 100,000 people found in high-income countries (Michelson et al., 2020).

Of the barriers mentioned above, there has been deliberate attention to the dearth of trained mental health professionals in India. To address this issue, one possible solution is the use of paraprofessionals, also referred to as lay-health counselors, lay professionals, or community health workers. Mental health paraprofessionals are defined as individuals with no previous professional mental health training or background (e.g., licensed practitioner after receiving accredited graduate education) who are employed to help treat and manage common mental health disorders (Patel et al., 2011). In addition, these paraprofessionals are oftentimes direct members of the communities they serve. The use of paraprofessionals may be particularly advantageous to LMICs such as India because of their ability to address many different treatment barriers unique to low-resource contexts. For example, they would add to the presently limited workforce size capable of addressing mental health concerns (Patel et al., 2011). Paraprofessionals would also be able to operate within their own communities, eliminating any barriers related to travel or physical distance (Patel et al., 2011). Moreover, because paraprofessionals are typically a part of the communities they serve and have largely been accepted by the communities, they may reduce stigma surrounding mental disorders and seeking mental health treatment in said communities (Michelson et al., 2020).

Studies involving mental health paraprofessionals have already been conducted in many other LMICs with similar contexts to India. For instance, the Thinking Health Project (THP) exemplifies how paraprofessionals can be leveraged to address mental health needs in Pakistan

(Rahman et al., 2008). This study harnessed the use of paraprofessionals to treat perinatal depression in pregnant women aged 16 - 45 in rural Pakistan. The study found that paraprofessionals, who were trained to deliver a cognitive behavior therapy-based intervention, were effective in reducing rates of depression (Rahman et al., 2008). In Uganda, another study examined the efficacy and effectiveness of paraprofessionals delivering interpersonal psychotherapy in order to treat depression in adult populations (Bolton et al., 2003). Results indicated the trained paraprofessionals were able to effectively deliver interpersonal psychotherapy and improve clinical depression outcomes in their target population over time (Bolton et al., 2003). These studies demonstrate that paraprofessionals are not only capable of delivering evidence-based mental health treatments after receiving training, but they are also effective at treating clinically-impaired populations and improving clinical outcomes in LMICs.

Preliminary studies have shown great potential for the effectiveness of paraprofessionals on mental health outcomes within India (Rajaraman et al., 2012). However, a synthesis of the existing literature on paraprofessionals in India has not yet been conducted. As the treatment gap in India continues to widen, it is imperative to explore effective and sustainable methods, such as the use of paraprofessionals, in which mental health needs in youth can be addressed.

The current study aims to synthesize the literature on mental health paraprofessionals in India into a narrative review. Specifically, this narrative review that focuses exclusively on India has four primary goals: (1) describe the settings in which paraprofessionals deliver mental health services, (2) describe the mental disorders addressed and treatments used by paraprofessionals, (3) describe the mental health treatment models paraprofessionals operate within, and (4) describe the efficacy of paraprofessionals in treating mental disorders.

Methods

This study used a comprehensive literature search method to identify relevant articles on mental health professionals in India.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

In order for an article to be included in this study, it had to meet several identified criteria. (1) The article had to be published in a peer-reviewed scholarly journal. Pieces such as dissertations, theses, and book chapters were excluded. (2) The article had to have conducted a study that took place in India. Articles were excluded if they were conducted exclusively in any other country or were otherwise inapplicable to the present context of India. (3) The article had to focus on mental health policy, treatment, or implementation of services. An article was excluded if it did not focus on mental health, such as if it focused on paraprofessionals treating medical ailments. (4) The articles also had to study the use of paraprofessionals. Articles were excluded if they focused solely on treatment conducted by professionals.

Search Process

The literature search began October 2019 and concluded in October 2020. The sources were found using online databases available through the University of South Carolina's Thomas Cooper Library. The particular databases used include GoogleScholar, PubMed, and PsycINFO. These databases were chosen because of their relevance to the research topic. A Boolean search term method was used for all three databases to identify articles. Namely, various combinations of the following search terms were used: 'India AND mental health', 'India and mental health AND children', 'PRIDE AND mental health', 'lay health counselors', 'lay health counselors AND India', 'collaborative stepped care', 'collaborative stepped care AND India', 'LMIC AND

mental health', 'mental health AND India AND scalability'. More targeted searches on specific authors (e.g., Bruce Chorpita, Vikram Patel, Sudipto Chatterjee) were also utilized.

Results

Using the search strategy described, 12 studies were identified and included in this narrative review. In six studies (50%), the participants in the population treated by paraprofessionals were youth aged 11 to 17 (Malla et al., 2019; Michelson et al., 2020a, 2020b; Parikh et al., 2019; Rajaraman et al., 2012; Shinde et al., 2017). In the remaining six studies (50%), the population treated were adults over the age of 17 (Balaji et al., 2012; Chowdhary et al., 2016; Mendenhall et al., 2014; Patel et al., 2010, 2011; Weobong et al., 2017).

Aim 1: Describe the Settings Paraprofessionals Deliver Treatments in

The studies were conducted in several Indian states and territories including Goa (Balaji et al., 2012; Chowdhary et al., 2016; Patel et al., 2010, 2011; Rajaraman et al., 2012; Weobong et al., 2017), Maharashtra (Balaji et al., 2012), Tamil Nadu (Balaji et al., 2012), Kashmir (Malla et al., 2019), Madya Pradesh (Mendenhall et al., 2014), Bihar (Shinde et al., 2017), and Delhi (Michelson et al., 2020a, 2020b; Parikh et al., 2019). Most studies (n = 10, 83%) were conducted in both peri-urban and rural settings (Balaji et al., 2012; Chowdhary et al., 2016; Michelson et al., 2020a, 2020b; Parikh et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2010, 2011; Rajaraman et al., 2012; Shinde et al., 2017; Weobong et al., 2017). The remaining two studies (17%) described paraprofessionals delivering treatments in exclusively rural settings (Malla et al., 2019; Mendenhall et al., 2014).

Treatments were administered by paraprofessionals to clients in a variety of different clinical settings. Four studies (31%) detailed paraprofessionals delivering services in healthcare facilities (Chowdhary et al., 2016; Patel et al., 2010, 2011; Weobong et al., 2017). Of those studies, two (50%) took place in public government or private primary care centers (Patel et al.,

2010, 2011). Another setting in which paraprofessionals treated Indian youth were government-run secondary schools (n = 5, 42%) (Michelson et al., 2020a, 2020b; Parikh et al., 2019; Rajaraman et al., 2012; Shinde et al., 2017). Three (60%) of these studies took place in schools that were located in New Delhi (Michelson et al., 2020a, 2020b; Parikh et al., 2019), while one study (20%) took place at a secondary school located in Bihar (Shinde et al., 2017), and another (n = 1, 20%) in secondary schools of Goa (Rajaraman et al., 2012). Paraprofessionals also operated within community settings (n = 3, 25%), such as local religious centers (Balaji et al., 2012; Malla et al., 2019; Mendenhall et al., 2014).

Aim 2: Describe Mental Disorders Addressed and Treatments Used by Paraprofessionals

Two studies (17%) investigated paraprofessional's treatment of depressive disorders, including major depressive disorder (Chowdhary et al., 2016; Weobong et al., 2017). One study (8%) solely described the treatment of schizophrenia in adults (Balaji et al., 2012). Most of the studies (n = 9; 75%) described paraprofessionals treating common mental disorders broadly, without specification of clinical diagnoses (e.g., general wellbeing or level of disability) (Malla et al., 2019; Mendenhall et al., 2014; Michelson et al., 2020a, 2020b; Parikh et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2010, 2011; Rajaraman et al., 2012; Shinde et al., 2017).

Paraprofessionals employed a variety of different mental health interventions to treat their clients. As recommended by the World Health Organization (Weobong et al., 2017), all studies utilized an evidence-based treatment to address youth mental health concerns: psychotherapy or pharmaceutical treatment (Balaji et al., 2012; Chowdhary et al., 2016; Malla et al., 2019; Mendenhall et al., 2014; Michelson et al., 2020a, 2020b; Parikh et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2010, 2011; Rajaraman et al., 2012; Shinde et al., 2017; Weobong et al., 2017). Within the realm of psychotherapy, several studies described a transdiagnostic approach (n = 3; 25%),

which address a range of mental disorders or comorbid disorders (e.g. depression and anxiety) (Michelson et al., 2020a, 2020b; Parikh et al., 2019). Two studies (17%) trained paraprofessionals on behavioral activation as a strategy to treat depression by encouraging clients to engage in positive behaviors and thus increase self-efficacy in addressing their concerns (Chowdhary et al., 2016; Weobong et al., 2017). Interpersonal therapy was also implemented by paraprofessionals in seven studies (58%) to manage interpersonal and relationship problems (Balaji et al., 2012; Malla et al., 2019; Mendenhall et al., 2014; Patel et al., 2010, 2011; Rajaraman et al., 2012; Shinde et al., 2017). Pharmaceutical treatments as a supplement to psychotherapy were also used by paraprofessionals to treat mental disorders. Antidepressants, such as fluoxetine, were prescribed by physicians and medication use was monitored by the paraprofessionals (*n* = 2; 17%) (Patel et al., 2010, 2011).

Aim 3: Describe the Mental Health Treatment Models Paraprofessionals Operate Within

Paraprofessionals provided services under a collaborative stepped care model in many studies (n = 9,75%) (Balaji et al., 2012; Malla et al., 2019; Mendenhall et al., 2014; Michelson et al., 2020a, 2020b; Parikh et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2010, 2011; Rajaraman et al., 2012). Under this model, paraprofessionals work directly with clients and are supervised by a primary care physician. Paraprofessionals and physicians are also supported by specialists or psychiatrists who intervene in severe cases or provide consultation. One study (8%) used a community collaborative stepped care approach in which family members of clients were actively involved in treatment decisions and activities, such as the monitoring of client progress (Balaji et al., 2012). Another study (n = 1, 8%) used a variation of the stepped care model where the paraprofessional was supported by a psychiatrist, psychologist, and social worker (Malla et al., 2019).

Other studies (n = 3, 25%) described a traditional individual treatment model in which paraprofessionals provided one-on-one care to a client (Chowdhary et al., 2016; Shinde et al., 2017; Weobong et al., 2017). One study (8%) involved a group life-skills class along with individual treatment by a paraprofessional, which was supervised by an advisory board and a psychologist by request (Shinde et al., 2017).

Aim 4: Describe the Efficacy of Paraprofessionals in Treating Mental Disorders

Client outcomes were also measured using a variety of methods. Most of the studies however used either strictly quantitative (n = 6; 50%) (Chowdhary et al., 2016; Malla et al., 2019; Michelson et al., 2020b; Patel et al., 2010, 2011; Weobong et al., 2017) or strictly qualitative (n = 2; 17%) methods (Balaji et al., 2012; Shinde et al., 2017) to evaluate client outcomes. Four studies (33%) used a mix of quantitative and qualitative client outcome measures (Mendenhall et al., 2014; Michelson et al., 2020a; Parikh et al., 2019; Rajaraman et al., 2012). The most commonly used quantitative measures were the Clinical Interview Schedule-Revised (Patel et al., 2010, 2011) which is a measure used to diagnose common mental disorders (CIS-R; Lewis et al., 1992) and Hopkin's Symptom Checklist (Chowdhary et al., 2016; Weobong et al., 2017) which measures symptoms of anxiety and depression (Parloff et al., 1954). Of the studies that used quantitative methods to evaluate changes in client outcomes, all ten (100%) found that paraprofessionals significantly reduced the severity of symptoms of mental disorders and improved functioning (Chowdhary et al., 2016; Malla et al., 2019; Mendenhall et al., 2014; Michelson et al., 2020a, 2020b; Parikh et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2010, 2011; Rajaraman et al., 2012; Weobong et al., 2017). Of the studies that described qualitative outcomes, all six (100%) structured interviews found that clients were generally satisfied with treatment from paraprofessionals and reported positive progress in reference to their experience of mental

disorders (Balaji et al., 2012; Mendenhall et al., 2014; Michelson et al., 2020a; Parikh et al., 2019; Rajaraman et al., 2012; Shinde et al., 2017).

Discussion

The purpose of the study was to assess the use of paraprofessionals in terms of the settings they operated within, the treatments they delivered, the treatment models they operated within, and finally if they were effective in mental health treatment.

Many paraprofessionals worked within healthcare facilities, namely primary care centers. This is unsurprising given that most individuals living in LMICs receive mental health treatment from primary care centers (WHO, 2001). Treatment conducted by paraprofessionals in these primary care centers proved to be effective in treating mental disorders. Furthermore, paraprofessionals were able to positively identify more mental disorders in clients when compared to usual care. A possible explanation for this is that paraprofessionals were trained specifically in mental disorder identification and treatment, in comparison to primary care physicians who may have knowledge in other non-mental health related topics. This finding is significant in that it means that a greater number of paraprofessionals may translate to greater detection and thus reducing treatment gaps.

Public primary care centers found much more success in utilizing paraprofessionals than private primary care centers. While public centers must normally accommodate a much larger caseload, resulting in less time and less privacy between the physician and the client, paraprofessionals were able to meet with clients for extended periods of time to address multiple concerns in a much more private manner, similarly to the normal care from private primary care centers (Patel et al., 2010). Privacy was a major concern for clients, who feared the judgement and shame that may come from the community if their disorder was revealed. Treatment in

community settings was the most accessible to clients. The proximity to the clients eliminated many of the economic barriers associated with treatment such as transportation costs and time away from work. Paraprofessionals were also viewed as a part of the community by operating within their space, allowing for the community to view mental disorders and their treatment as more normal. Clients were also more willing to open up to paraprofessionals in the more informal setting of a community rather than a medical facility, likely because the setting was more familiar and thus relaxing. Schools were also explored as a setting where paraprofessionals could treat youth. This setting was particularly effective for youth as they spend most of their time during the day in schools, making treatment from paraprofessional most accessible to them when delivered there. Moreover, paraprofessionals were able to build rapport within the school community more easily due to support from other school staff and the familiarity of their presence as the study proceeded (Rajaraman et al., 2012).

Paraprofessionals took advantage of evidence-based treatments, which according to the American Psychological Association are treatments that "integrate the best available research with clinical expertise in the context of patient characteristics, culture, and preferences" (APA, 2008). Using evidence-based treatments enables paraprofessionals to manage their clients using proven methods that lead to the best results. It is still unclear which evidence-based treatments are the most applicable to LMICs such as India, creating a need for additional research on the potential success of specific evidence-based treatments. An interesting method of treatment that most paraprofessionals utilized was a transdiagnostic approach. The transdiagnostic approach combined multiple overlapping elements of disorder-specific treatment, such as addressing intrusive thoughts in managing anxiety disorders and depression (Parikh et al., 2019). Delivering treatments in this way was extremely feasible for paraprofessionals. Many common mental

disorders are comorbid, and the transdiagnostic approach equipped paraprofessionals to treat several disorders efficiently and effectively. Treatment manuals were also developed to supplement paraprofessional delivered treatment. Paraprofessionals were given their own treatment manuals to provide guidance on delivering treatments and methods to supplement face-to-face counselling. These manuals were adapted for the skill level of the paraprofessionals, using plain language, illustrations, and example exercises. The integration of treatment manuals into transdiagnostic care will be key to future paraprofessional interventions.

The collaborative stepped care model was a treatment management model that paraprofessionals operated within to provide services. In multiple studies, paraprofessionals attributed the success of their treatment to the support provided by this model. The paraprofessionals were supervised by primary care physicians, who met with them on a regular basis to discuss cases and challenges that come up in treatment. The physicians are then further supported by mental health specialists or psychiatrists, who advise physicians on severe cases and treatment trajectories. The supervision protocols kept paraprofessionals from feeling lost when treating clients and made expert advice accessible. Some studies also integrated the community into their models, which empowered them and increased community trust in the paraprofessional led treatment. This further reduced community stigma surrounding mental disorders and treatment, making paraprofessional-led interventions even more effective. Further research needs to be done to examine how collaborative stepped care models can be optimized in different settings in India (e.g., rehabilitation centers).

Paraprofessional led treatment interventions were effective at improving client mental health outcomes according to several different measures. Clients reported improvements in the severity of their symptoms and some even had complete remission. Common mental disorders

specifically saw vast improvements and referrals to treatment by other community members also increased. Clients also had positive remarks on how treatment from paraprofessionals impacted their life, for example "[The paraprofessional] taught me study skills and gave me a time table in writing so I followed the time table and I passed and now I am in 10th standard." (Rajaraman et al., 2012). Stigma was also reduced considerably by paraprofessional treatment deliveries. In comparison to mental health professionals and physicians, paraprofessionals were much more likely to come from the same or similar communities as the clients. As a result, more clients sought treatment for their mental disorders and saw quality of life improvements. Future research still needs to examine how much improvement clients see compared to other forms of treatment, especially when considering specific disorders such as depressive or anxiety disorders.

Limitations

There were several notable limitations to the present study that limited the conclusions that could be drawn. First, this study included a small sample size of articles. However, this small number reflects the current state of the literature. Second, the articles included in the study did not use consistent methodologies, especially in regard to evaluating client outcomes. Despite the inconsistencies, accurate conclusions were drawn using the supplementary discussions from the articles as well as qualitative reports collected. Finally, the data for most of the articles were self-reported from the clients, collected using surveys, questionnaires, and interviews. This introduces bias as self-reported data can be influenced by the client's mood at time of data collection, memories, personal relationship with the paraprofessional, and more. To combat this the articles used large sample sizes and reported on general trends, minimizing the effect of this bias.

Future Directions

Future research should focus on scaling up paraprofessional interventions to reach larger populations by collaborating with the community and its leaders. Key community stakeholder involvement in paraprofessional led treatment also needs to be further explored for its feasibility and impact on client outcome. Research should also be conducted on current government policy effectiveness and suggestions for government led change in mental health treatment and health care structure. Paraprofessional involvement in the mental health structure as dictated by set government standards also could be explored as a method to standardizing paraprofessional led treatment. Finally, research needs to focus on paraprofessional interventions on youth mental health outcomes. Little to no research has been done on this population, and as youth have different needs and capabilities in comparison to adults, interventions that are successful in treating adults may not be applicable to youth.

Conclusion

There is sufficient evidence proving that the use of paraprofessionals to treat mental health disorders is a plausible and effective solution to the mental health treatment gap. It is imperative that India take steps to implement feasible interventions such as these to prevent a public health crisis in the future, and to aid those that are currently suffering. Paraprofessionals are a simple, accessible way to address this issue while still providing quality care.

References

- American Psychological Association (APA). (2008). *Evidence-Based Practice in Psychology*. https://www.apa.org/practice/resources/evidence
- Balaji, M., Chatterjee, S., Koschorke, M., Rangaswamy, T., Chavan, A., Dabholkar, H., Dakshin, L., Kumar, P., John, S., Thornicroft, G., & Patel, V. (2012). The development of a lay health worker delivered collaborative community based intervention for people with schizophrenia in India. *BMC Health Services Research*, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-12-42
- Barnett, M. L., Lau, A. S., & Miranda, J. (2018). Lay health worker involvement in evidence-based treatment delivery: A Conceptual Model to Address Disparities in Care. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *14*(1), 185–208. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050817-084825
- Barnett, M., Miranda, J., Kia-Keating, M., Saldana, L., Landsverk, J., & Lau, A. S. (2019).

 Developing and evaluating a lay health worker delivered implementation intervention to decrease engagement disparities in behavioural parent training: A mixed methods study protocol. *BMJ Open*, 9(7), e028988. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-028988
- Bolton, P., Bass, J., Neugebauer, R., Verdeli, H., Clougherty, K. F., Wickramaratne, P., Speelman, L., Ndogoni, L., & Weissman, M. (2003). Group interpersonal psychotherapy for depression in rural Uganda: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 289(23), 3117–3124. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.289.23.3117
- Chowdhary, N., Anand, A., Dimidjian, S., Shinde, S., Weobong, B., Balaji, M., Hollon, S. D., Rahman, A., Wilson, G. T., Verdeli, H., Araya, R., King, M., Jordans, M. J. D., Fairburn, C., Kirkwood, B., & Patel, V. (2016). The Healthy Activity Program lay counsellor

delivered treatment for severe depression in India: Systematic development and randomised evaluation. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 208(4), 381–388. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.161075

- Cunff, A.-L. L. (2019, May 23). Mental disorders in high versus low income countries. *Ness Labs*. https://nesslabs.com/mental-disorders-high-low-income-countries
- Fazel, M., Patel, V., Thomas, S., & Tol, W. (2014). Mental health interventions in schools in low-income and middle-income countries. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 1(5), 388–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(14)70357-8
- George, C., Kumar V, A., & Girish, N. (2020). Effectiveness of a group intervention led by lay health workers in reducing the incidence of postpartum depression in South India. *Asian Journal of Psychiatry*, 47, 101864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2019.101864
- Glenton, C., Colvin, C. J., Carlsen, B., Swartz, A., Lewin, S., Noyes, J., & Rashidian, A. (2013).

 Barriers and facilitators to the implementation of lay health worker programmes to improve access to maternal and child health: Qualitative evidence synthesis. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 10, CD010414. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD010414.pub2
- Hanlon, C., Luitel, N. P., Kathree, T., Murhar, V., Shrivasta, S., Medhin, G., Ssebunnya, J.,
 Fekadu, A., Shidhaye, R., Petersen, I., Jordans, M., Kigozi, F., Thornicroft, G., Patel, V.,
 Tomlinson, M., Lund, C., Breuer, E., Silva, M. D., & Prince, M. (2014). Challenges and opportunities for implementing integrated mental health care: a district level situation analysis from five low- and middle-income countries. *PLOS ONE*, 9(2), e88437.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088437

- Hofman, K., Primack, A., Keusch, G., & Hrynkow, S. (2005). Addressing the growing burden of trauma and injury in low- and middle-income countries. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(1), 13–17. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2004.039354
- Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL). (2011, January 11). *Harvard Program in Refugee Trauma*. http://hprt-cambridge.org/screening/hopkins-symptom-checklist/
- Hossain, M. M., & Purohit, N. (2019). Improving child and adolescent mental health in India:

 Status, services, policies, and way forward. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*, *61*(4), 415–419.

 https://doi.org/10.4103/psychiatry_IndianJPsychiatry_217_18
- Ilozumba, O., Dieleman, M., Kraamwinkel, N., Belle, S. V., Chaudoury, M., & Broerse, J. E. W. (2018). "I am not telling. The mobile is telling": Factors influencing the outcomes of a community health worker mHealth intervention in India. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(3), e0194927. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194927
- Hofman, K., Primack, A., Keusch, G., & Hrynkow, S. (2005). Addressing the Growing Burden of Trauma and Injury in Low- and Middle-Income Countries. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(1), 13–17. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2004.039354
- Kodad, H. S., & Kazi, S. A. (2014). Emerging area of counseling in schools in India.

 International Research Journal of Social Sciences, 3(3), 44-47.
- Lewis G, Pelosi AJ, Aray R, Dunn G (1992). Measuring psychiatric disorder in the community: a standardized assessment for use by lay interviewers. *Psychological Medicine*, 22, 465-486.
- Luitel, N. P., Jordans, M. J., Adhikari, A., Upadhaya, N., Hanlon, C., Lund, C., & Komproe, I.H. (2015). Mental health care in Nepal: Current situation and challenges for development

of a district mental health care plan. *Conflict and Health*, *9*(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13031-014-0030-5

- Malla, A., Margoob, M., Iyer, S., Majid, A., Lal, S., Joober, R., & Issaoui Mansouri, B. (2019).

 Testing the effectiveness of implementing a model of mental healthcare involving trained lay health workers in treating major mental disorders among youth in a conflict-ridden, low-middle income environment: Part II Results. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 64(9), 630–637. https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743719839314
- Mendenhall, E., De Silva, M. J., Hanlon, C., Petersen, I., Shidhaye, R., Jordans, M., Luitel, N., Ssebunnya, J., Fekadu, A., Patel, V., Tomlinson, M., & Lund, C. (2014). Acceptability and feasibility of using non-specialist health workers to deliver mental health care: Stakeholder perceptions from the PRIME district sites in Ethiopia, India, Nepal, South Africa, and Uganda. *Social Science & Medicine*, 118, 33–42.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.07.057
- Michelson, D., Malik, K., Krishna, M., Sharma, R., Mathur, S., Bhat, B., Parikh, R., Roy, K.,
 Joshi, A., Sahu, R., Chilhate, B., Boustani, M., Cuijpers, P., Chorpita, B., Fairburn, C. G.,
 & Patel, V. (2020). Development of a transdiagnostic, low-intensity, psychological intervention for common adolescent mental health problems in Indian secondary schools.
 Behaviour Research and Therapy, 130, 103439.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2019.103439

Michelson, D., Malik, K., Parikh, R., Weiss, H. A., Doyle, A. M., Bhat, B., Sahu, R., Chilhate, B., Mathur, S., Krishna, M., Sharma, R., Sudhir, P., King, M., Cuijpers, P., Chorpita, B., Fairburn, C. G., & Patel, V. (2020). Effectiveness of a brief lay counsellor-delivered, problem-solving intervention for adolescent mental health problems in urban, low-

- income schools in India: A randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 4(8), 571–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30173-5
- Murray, L. K., & Jordans, M. J. D. (2016). Rethinking the service delivery system of psychological interventions in low and middle income countries. *BMC Psychiatry*, *16*(1), 234. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-0938-y
- Parikh, R., Michelson, D., Sapru, M., Sahu, R., Singh, A., Cuijpers, P., & Patel, V. (2019).

 Priorities and preferences for school-based mental health services in India: A multistakeholder study with adolescents, parents, school staff, and mental health providers.

 Global Mental Health, 6. https://doi.org/10.1017/gmh.2019.16
- Parikh, Rachana, Michelson, D., Malik, K., Shinde, S., Weiss, H. A., Hoogendoorn, A.,
 Ruwaard, J., Krishna, M., Sharma, R., Bhat, B., Sahu, R., Mathur, S., Sudhir, P., King,
 M., Cuijpers, P., Chorpita, B. F., Fairburn, C. G., & Patel, V. (2019). The effectiveness of a low-intensity problem-solving intervention for common adolescent mental health problems in New Delhi, India: Protocol for a school-based, individually randomized controlled trial with an embedded stepped-wedge, cluster randomized controlled recruitment trial. *Trials*, 20(1), 568. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-019-3573-3
- Parloff, M. B., Kelman, H. C., & Frank, J. D. (1954). Comfort, effectiveness, and self-awareness as criteria of improvement in psychotherapy. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 111(5), 343–352. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.111.5.343
- Patel, V., Chisholm, D., Parikh, R., Charlson, F. J., Degenhardt, L., Dua, T., Ferrari, A. J., Hyman, S., Laxminarayan, R., Levin, C., Lund, C., Medina Mora, M. E., Petersen, I., Scott, J., Shidhaye, R., Vijayakumar, L., Thornicroft, G., & Whiteford, H. (2016).

 Addressing the burden of mental, neurological, and substance use disorders: Key

- messages from Disease Control Priorities, 3rd edition. *The Lancet*, 387(10028), 1672–1685. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00390-6
- Patel, V., Chowdhary, N., Rahman, A., & Verdeli, H. (2011). Improving access to psychological treatments: Lessons from developing countries. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 49(9), 523–528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2011.06.012
- Patel, V., Weiss, H. A., Chowdhary, N., Naik, S., Pednekar, S., Chatterjee, S., Bhat, B., Araya, R., King, M., Simon, G., Verdeli, H., & Kirkwood, B. R. (2011). Lay health worker led intervention for depressive and anxiety disorders in India: Impact on clinical and disability outcomes over 12 months. *The British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal of Mental Science*, 199(6), 459–466. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.111.092155
- Patel, V., Weiss, H. A., Chowdhary, N., Naik, S., Pednekar, S., Chatterjee, S., Silva, M. D., Bhat, B., Araya, R., King, M., Simon, G., Verdeli, H., & Kirkwood, B. (2010). The effectiveness of a lay health worker led intervention for depressive and anxiety disorders in primary care: The MANAS cluster randomized trial in Goa, India. *Lancet (London, England)*, 376(9758), 2086–2095. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61508-5
- Rahman, A., Malik, A., Sikander, S., Roberts, C., & Creed, F. (2008). Cognitive behaviour therapy-based intervention by community health workers for mothers with depression and their infants in rural pakistan: A cluster-randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 372(9642), 902-9. http://dx.doi.org.pallas2.tcl.sc.edu/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61400-2
- Rajaraman, D., Travasso, S., Chatterjee, A., Bhat, B., Andrew, G., Parab, S., & Patel, V. (2012).

 The acceptability, feasibility and impact of a lay health counsellor delivered health promoting schools programme in India: A case study evaluation. *BMC Health Services Research*, 12(1), 127. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-12-127

- Roy, K, Shinde, S, Sarkar, BK, Malik, K, Parikh, R, Patel, V (2019). India's response to adolescent mental health: a policy review and stakeholder analysis. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *54*, 405–414.
- Sagar, R., Dandona, R., Gururaj, G., Dhaliwal, R. S., Singh, A., Ferrari, A., Dua, T., Ganguli, A., Varghese, M., Chakma, J. K., Kumar, G. A., Shaji, K. S., Ambekar, A., Rangaswamy, T., Vijayakumar, L., Agarwal, V., Krishnankutty, R. P., Bhatia, R., Charlson, F., ... Dandona, L. (2020). The burden of mental disorders across the states of India: The Global Burden of Disease Study 1990–2017. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(2), 148–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30475-4
- Shidhaye, R., & Kermode, M. (2013). Stigma and discrimination as a barrier to mental health service utilization in India. *International Health*, *5*(1), 6–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/inthealth/ihs011
- Shinde, S., Pereira, B., Khandeparkar, P., Sharma, A., Patton, G., Ross, D. A., Weiss, H. A., & Patel, V. (2017). The development and pilot testing of a multicomponent health promotion intervention (SEHER) for secondary schools in Bihar, India. *Global Health Action*, 10(1), 1385284. https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2017.1385284
- Singla, D. R., Kohrt, B. A., Murray, L. K., Anand, A., Chorpita, B. F., & Patel, V. (2017).

 Psychological Treatments for the World: Lessons from Low- and Middle-Income

 Countries. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 13(1), 149–181.

 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-045217
- Verdeli, H., Clougherty, K., Bolton, P., Speelman, L., Lincoln, N., Bass, J., Neugebauer, R., & Weissman, M. M. (2003). Adapting group interpersonal psychotherapy for a developing

- country: experience in rural Uganda. World psychiatry: official journal of the World Psychiatric Association (WPA), 2(2), 114–120.
- Weobong, B., Weiss, H. A., McDaid, D., Singla, D. R., Hollon, S. D., Nadkarni, A., Park, A.-L.,
 Bhat, B., Katti, B., Anand, A., Dimidjian, S., Araya, R., King, M., Vijayakumar, L.,
 Wilson, G. T., Velleman, R., Kirkwood, B. R., Fairburn, C. G., & Patel, V. (2017).
 Sustained effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of the Healthy Activity Programme, a brief
 psychological treatment for depression delivered by lay counsellors in primary care: 12-month follow-up of a randomised controlled trial. *PLOS Medicine*, *14*(9), e1002385.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002385
- Whiteford, H. A., Ferrari, A. J., Degenhardt, L., Feigin, V., & Vos, T. (2015). The Global Burden of Mental, Neurological and Substance Use Disorders: An Analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(2), e0116820.

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0116820
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2001). *The world health report 2001 Mental health: New understanding, new hope*. https://www.who.int/whr/2001/en/